
BOA Meeting – October 5, 2022           Page 1 of 2  

Anne Sundquist, Place 1, Chairman Don Doering, City Administrator 
Scott Shelburne, Place 2 Kandice Garrett, City Secretary 
LaRae Whorley, Place 3 Leonard Schneider, City Attorney 
Josh Jakubik, Place 4 Christian Gable, Planning Coordinator 
Cathy Yowell, Place 5, Vice Chairman 
Alternate: 
Trevor Brown 

 
 
 
 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETING 
ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

AGENDA 
PUBLIC HEARING AND SPECIAL MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 5, 2022 - 4:30 P.M. 

Sewall Smith Council Chambers 
18111 Buddy Riley Blvd. Magnolia, Texas 77354 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

a. INVOCATION 
b. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
c. ROLL CALL AND CERTIFICATION OF QUORUM 

 
 
2. CITIZENS COMMENTS, REQUESTS OR PETITIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

(This agenda item provides an opportunity for citizens to address the City Council on any matter not on the 
agenda). 
Comments shall be limited to three (3) minutes per person. Comments by the governing body shall be limited to: 
a. Statements of specific factual information given in response to an inquiry; 
b. A recitation of existing policy in response to an inquiry; 
c. A proposal to place the subject on a future agenda. 

 
 
3. OPEN PUBLIC HEARING 

 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

On October 5, 2022 at 4:30 pm., the City of Magnolia Zoning Board of 
Adjustment will hold a public hearing in  the  City  Council  Chambers,  
18111 Buddy  Riley  Blvd.,  Magnolia,  Texas  77354,  concerning  an  
appeal to a Notice  of  Violation  of  City  of  Magnolia's  Unified  
Development Code requested  for  327  Magnolia  Blvd,  giving  all  
interested persons the right to appear and be heard. 

 
 
4. CLOSE PUBLIC HEARING AND CONVENE SPECIAL MEETING 

 
 
5. CONSIDERATION – APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Consideration and possible action to approve the minutes of the meeting held July 25, 
2022. 



BOA Meeting – October 5, 2022           Page 2 of 2  

 
 
6. CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION TO APPROVE AN APPEAL 

REQUESTED FOR A NOTICE OF VIOLATION OF THE CITY OF MAGNOLIA UNIFIED 
DEVELOPMENT CODE FOR 327 MAGNOLIA BLVD. 

 
 
7. ADJOURN 

 
The Zoning Board of Adjustment of the City of Magnolia, Texas, reserves the right to adjourn into Closed Executive Session at 
any time during the course of this meeting to discuss any of the matters listed above as authorized by Title 5, Chapter 551, 
of the Texas Government Code. 551.071 (Consultation with Attorney), 551.072 (Deliberations about Real Property), 
551.073 (Deliberations about Gifts and Donations), 551.074 (Personnel Matters), 551.076 (Deliberations about Security 
Devices), 551.086 (Deliberations about competitive matters), and 551.087 (Deliberation about Economic Development 
Matters). 

 
Persons with disabilities who plan to attend this meeting and who may need auxiliary aids or services are requested 
to contact the City Secretary’s office at (281-305-0550), two working days prior to the meeting for appropriate 
arrangements. 

 
CERTIFICATE 

I certify that a copy of the Notice of Meeting was posted on the City Hall bulletin board, a place convenient and readily 
accessible to the general public at all times, and to the City’s website, www.cityofmagnolia.com, in compliance with Chapter 
551, Texas Government Code. 
DATE    
TIME   
TAKEN DOWN    

 
 
Kandice Garrett, City Secretary 

http://www.cityofmagnolia.com/


BOA Minutes – 07.25.22 Page 1 
 

Anne Sundquist, Place 1, Chairman           Don Doering, City Administrator 
Scott Shelburne,  Place 2                          Kandice Garrett, City Secretary          
LaRae Whorley,  Place 3         Leonard Schneider, City Attorney 
Josh Jakubik, Place 4                                     Tana Ross, Planning Consultant 
Cathy Yowell, Place 5, Vice Chairman                           
Alternate(s):                                  
Trevor Brown 
 
 
 

 

MINUTES  
ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT  

SPECIAL MEETING  
WEDNESDAY, JULY 25, 2022 – 4:30 P.M. 

Sewall Smith Council Chambers 
18111 Buddy Riley Boulevard, Magnolia, Texas 77354 

A meeting of the Zoning Board of Adjustment was held on July 25, 2022 beginning at 4:30 p.m. in the 
Sewall Smith City Council Chambers located at 18111 Buddy Riley Blvd., Magnolia, Texas 77354. 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

Vice Chairman Cathy Yowell called the meeting to order for the Zoning Board of Adjustment 
at 4:32 p.m. 
 

a. INVOCATION 
 Scott Shelburne provided the invocation. 

 
b. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Vice Chairman Cathy Yowell led the pledge of allegiance to the United States and Texas 
flags.  

 
c. ROLL CALL AND CERTIFICATION OF QUORUM 

Vice Chairman Cathy Yowell called roll, certified that a quorum was present with the 
following Zoning Board of Adjustment members in attendance:  Cathy Yowell, Trevor 
Brown, Scott Shelburne, LaRae Whorley, and Josh Jakubik. 

 
Absent:  Anne Sundquist 

 
Officials/staff present:  Planning Coordinator Christian Gable, City Administrator Don 
Doering, and City Secretary Kandice Garrett 
 
 

2. OPEN PUBLIC HEARING 
Vice Chairman Cathy Yowell opened the Public Hearing at 4:33 p.m., read the Notice aloud, 
asking for any public comments. 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
On July 25,  2022  at  4:30  pm.,  the  City  of  Magnolia  Zoning  Board of 
Adjustment will hold a public hearing in the City Council Chambers, 18111 



BOA Minutes – 07.25.22 Page 2 
 

Buddy Riley Blvd., Magnolia, Texas 77354, concerning a landscaping 
variance requested for Magnolia Village Retail Center Reserve A, giving all 
interested persons the right to appear and be heard. 

 
Planning Coordinator Christian Gable provided a staff report. Patrick Eagan, with Gulf 
Coast Developers, addressed the Board and gave a presentation along with Christina 
Miller, attorney for the developer. 
 
 

3. CLOSE PUBLIC HEARING AND CONVENE SPECIAL MEETING 
Vice Chairman Cathy Yowell adjourned the Public Hearing and convened the Special 
Meeting at 4:46 p.m. 

 
 
4. CONSIDERATION –  APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Consideration and possible action to approve the minutes of the meeting held June 21, 
2022. 

 
MOTION: Upon a motion to approve the minutes of the meeting held June 21, 2022 

made by Scott Shelburne and seconded by Josh Jakubik, the Board 
members voted and the motion carried unanimously,  5-0. 

 
 
5. CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION TO APPROVE OF A LANDSCAPING 

VARIANCE FOR MAGNOLIA VILLAGE RETAIL CENTER RESERVE A 
  

There was further discussion from the applicant and the Board. 
 

MOTION: Upon a motion to approve a landscaping variance for Magnolia Village 
Retail Center Reserve A upon receipt and approval of a landscape plan that  
meets the City of Magnolia Unified Development Code requirements made 
by Scott Shelburne and seconded by Cathy Yowell, the Board members 
voted, and the motion carried unanimously,  5-0.  

  
 

6. ADJOURN 
 
MOTION: Upon a motion to adjourn the meeting made by Scott Shelburne and 

seconded by Cathy Yowell, the Board members voted, the motion carried 
unanimously, 5-0 and the meeting was adjourned at 5:00 p.m. 

 
   
 
             
                                                                  _____________________________  
       Cathy Yowell, Vice Chairman 
 
 
 



BOA Minutes – 07.25.22 Page 3 
 

CERTIFICATION 
I certify that this is a true and correct copy of the minutes of the meeting of the City of Magnolia 
Zoning Board of Adjustment held July 25, 2022. 
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
  
Kandice Garrett, City Secretary 



Sopheak Pich 
327 Magnolia Blvd. 
Appeal Request for – Notice of Violation 
BOA Meeting Oct 5, 2022 
Prepared by: Planning Coordinator Christian Gable 

A request for appeal from Sopheak Pich, property owner and/or occupant at 327 Magnolia Blvd, 
regarding Notice of Violation issued for UDC violations by Code Enforcement Officer Clyde Hunt. 

Staff Report: 
The property is located in the Town Center (TC) zoning district with approximately 130 ft of frontage on 
FM 1774 and 120 ft of frontage on Betty Hall St. The property is in the Stroll Overlay District and shares 
property lines with LaRae Whorley - LaRae Whorley Realty Group. This property lines the Magnolia Stroll 
with 39 other properties that are all also zoned Town Center (TC). 

The Notice of Violation was issued by Code Compliance authority to notify the following violations to 
City of Magnolia’s Unified Development Code (UDC): 

- UDC Chapter 2, Table 2-1-1.03 Zoning Districts
- UDC Chapter 11, Table 11-2-1.02 Administrative Permits
- UDC Chapter 9, Section 9-1-2.02 Major and Minor Nonconforming Uses, Buildings, and

Structures
A written letter to appeal from the property owner/occupant was delivered within the Local 
Government Code requirements allowing a public hearing before the Board of Adjustments. 

Staff Findings: 
In reference to violations as listed on notice: 

- UDC Chapter 2, Table 2-1-1.03 Zoning Districts
1. The TC zoning district is considered nonresidential.
2. The TC zoning district allowable use is “Retail” and functions as pedestrian and tourism-

oriented retail uses.
3. The purpose of the TC zoning district is intended as a walkable retail shopping and 

entertainment area with a unique character.

- UDC Chapter 11, Table 11-2-1.02 Administrative Permits
1. The only Certificate of Occupancy that the City has filed is for 327 B Magnolia Blvd for 

proposed Single Family Residential Use dated January 7, 2011.
• I have verified that 327 B Magnolia Blvd is not a legal 911 address through Montgomery 

County.
• This CO was issued before Zoning was adopted in 2015.
• There is no existing CO for 327 Magnolia Blvd alone.

2. The City has 3 building permits on file for 327 Magnolia Blvd.
• Commercial exterior remodel permit # 20140116 (7/10/2014 to 1/10/2015)
• Commercial exterior remodel permit # 20150570 (8/19/2015 to 2/17/2016)
• Commercial interior remodel permit # 20160428 (6/17/2016 to 12/18/2016)

3. 327 Magnolia Blvd is charged commercial water/sewer rates through the City.



4. 327 B Magnolia Blvd is also charged commercial water/sewer rates through the City 
although it is not a legal address through Montgomery County. This means there are 2 water 
meters on one property which is not allowable through the City unless for irrigation 
purposes.  
 

5. 317 Magnolia Blvd was verified as a legal address through Montgomery County 911 Address 
Assignment. Montgomery County is unable to provide a date this became legal although the 
“points were edited 6/9/2022 but for unknown reason”. This address previously shared a 
property address of 327 Magnolia Blvd. The following permit was filed through the City for 
317 Magnolia Blvd: 
• Commercial addition permit # 20211139 (10/05/2021 to 4/04/2022) 

 
6. Certificate of Occupancy for 317 A Magnolia Blvd was issued 4/6/2014 to Susan Sewing. We 

do not have documentation whether it was for commercial or residential. 317 A is not a 
legal address through Montgomery County. 
 

7. Water service is no longer available at 317 Magnolia Blvd as of 10/28/2020. This concludes 
that if 317 Magnolia Blvd is receiving water, it is due to illegal plumbing from existing meters 
at 327 Magnolia Blvd. 
 

- UDC Chapter 9, Section 9-1-2.02 Major and Minor Nonconforming Uses, Buildings, and 
Structures  
1. Nonconformities as described in Chapter 9 of the UDC are defined as uses that were lawfully 

established but are not currently listed as permitted or conditional uses. 
 

2. Major Nonconformities are those for which the nonconformity generates a nuisance per se 
or the nonconformity represents such incompatibility with adjacent uses and/or the 
Comprehensive Plan that they should be eliminated.  
• Residing within commercial property displays incompatibility with adjacent commercial 

uses.  
 

Staff Recommendation: 
 
Deny request to appeal Notice of Violation unless applicant agrees to abide by all City codes and 
regulations according to the UDC requirements for use at the properties mentioned in this report within 
a reasonable amount of time determined by the Board of Adjustments.  





VIOLATION ATTACHMENT 1



VIOLATION ATTACHMENT 2



VIOLATION ATTACHMENT 3



VIOLATION ATTACHMENT 4



VIOLATION ATTACHMENT 5



VIOLATION ATTACHMENT 6



VIOLATION ATTACHMENT 7



G
O

O
G

LE
  M

A
P 

SC
RE

EN
SH

O
TS

 (u
pd

at
ed

 A
pr

il 
20

22
)



C
ity

 o
f M

ag
no

lia
 Z

on
in

g 
M

ap





327 Magnolia Blvd Permits:

317 Magnolia Blvd Permits:




	BOA Minutes 07.25.22
	BOA Pkg 10.5.2022
	BOA Agenda 10.05.22.pdf
	AGENDA
	CERTIFICATE
	DATE


	BOA Appeal 327 Magnolia Blvd 10.5.22
	Planning Report
	Appeal Request - Yankee Doodle
	Notice of Violation - Yankee Doodle
	Google Map Screenshot
	Blank Page

	Zoning Map Screenshot
	Blank Page

	TC Def UDC
	Blank Page

	Admin Permits UDC
	Blank Page

	UDC Nonconformities
	Blank Page




